Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-26-2017

State v. Ayala Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45048

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This case challenges the constitutional validity of a police officer's warrantless arrest of a parolee, Jesus George Ayala, without probable cause to believe Mr. Ayala had committed any crime, and without a written "agent's warrant" required by Idaho Code § 20-227. The arrest was based solely on the oral request of a parole officer to locate and pick up Mr. Ayala for absconding from parole supervision. The parole officer told police he intended to issue an agent's warrant, but before the agent's warrant was prepared, the police officer arrested Mr. Ayala, searched him, and discovered drugs and paraphernalia in his possession.

Mr. Ayala moved to suppress the evidence, claiming the police violated his state and federal constitutional rights against unreasonable seizures and searches by arresting him without a warrant, without probable cause to believe he was committing a crime, and without other valid arrest authority. The State offered no evidence of any parole term or condition showing that Mr. Ayala had expressly waived his search and seizures rights or had agreed to submit to warrantless arrests or searches. The district court denied Mr. Ayala's motion to suppress, concluding that the parole officer's oral request to arrest Mr. Ayala provided police both probable cause to make the arrest, and the authority to act on behalf of the parole officer, as his agents, to make a warrantless arrest.

On appeal, Mr. Ayala contends that the district court's conclusions are erroneous and that the decision denying his suppression motion should be reversed. Alternatively, he asserts that his sentence of seven years, with one-year fixed, imposed after he conditionally pled guilty to possessing a controlled substance and paraphernalia, is excessive under the circumstances and represents an abuse of the district court's sentencing discretion.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

On October 2, 2016, Ada County sheriff's deputy Sergeant Matthew Steele was notified via telephone that Mr. Ayala was wanted by his parole officer in Blaine County for absconding parole, and that the parole officer intended to issue an agent's warrant if Mr. Ayala was located. (Tr., p.10, L.17 – p.11, L.1, p.34, Ls.9-14.) After receiving a tip from a confidential informant, fellow police officers found Mr. Ayala sitting outside of a Target store in Boise and made contact with him. (Tr., p.20, L.22 – p.21, L.4.) Sergeant Steele watched from a distance in his patrol car while speaking on the phone with Mr. Ayala's parole officer, Keven Wayt; Parole Officer Wayt told Sergeant Steele he would¹ issue an "agent's warrant."² (Tr., p.20, L.22 – p.21, L.4, p.34, Ls.11-14.)

However, the police did not wait for the agent's warrant to issue. Instead, the police informed Mr. Ayala they were taking him into custody and handcuffed him, then placed him in the back of a patrol car and transported him to the Ada County jail. (Tr., p.17, Ls.1-5, p.20, Ls.13-25, p.34, Ls.15-23.) During a search incident to the arrest,³ police discovered methamphetamine and paraphernalia in Mr. Ayala's possession. (Tr., p.34, Ls.15-22.) Only after the drugs were discovered did the parole officer prepare a written agent's warrant and email

¹ There is no evidence that police were advised an agent's warrant had already been prepared or issued. (See Tr., pp.5-10; R., pp.61-83.)

² Idaho Code § 20-227(1) authorizes a parole officer to arrest a parolee without a warrant, or to "deputize any other officer with arrest power to do so, by giving such officer a written statement, referred to as an agent's warrant," that in the judgment of the parole officer, the parolee violated the conditions of parole.

³ Sergeant Steele testified that he believed the methamphetamine was discovered during the initial search incident to arrest (Tr., p.23, Ls.12-21); the police report indicates the drugs were discovered during a second search conducted after Mr. Ayala arrived at the jail (R., p.73). The district court made no specific finding regarding where Mr. Ayala was when the drugs were discovered, but the court did make a specific finding that the agent's warrant was issued after the arrest, and after the search conducted incident to that arrest when the drugs were discovered. (Tr., p.34, Ls.19-23.)

it to Sergeant Steele. (Tr., p.34, Ls.15-23; Exhibit 1.) The agent's warrant alleged two parole violations: absconding; and a new felony, possession of controlled substances (Tr., p.24, Ls.1-6, p.27, Ls.9-12; Exhibit A), the latter "new felony" being from the evidence found during the search incident to the arrest (Tr., p.24, Ls.22-25). Based on this evidence, the State charged Mr. Ayala with possession of a controlled substance and possession of drug paraphernalia; the State also filed a persistent violator enhancement. (R., pp.7, 39, 78.)

Mr. Ayala filed a motion to suppress the evidence. (R., pp.59, 61.) He claimed police violated his right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment of the federal constitution, and by Article I, § 17, of the Idaho Constitution, when the police officers arrested him without a warrant,⁴ without probable cause to believe he had committed any criminal offense, and without legal authorization to make a warrantless arrest on behalf of the parole officer granted by Idaho Code § 20-227(1). (R., pp.61-66; Tr., p.28, L.13 – p.29, L.10.) The State objected, arguing that Mr. Ayala did not have a constitutional right or standing to contest the search because he was on parole at the time (R., pp.81-83; Tr., p.31, Ls.7-15); however, the State offered no evidence of the terms and conditions of Mr. Ayala's parole agreement (*see generally* Tr., pp.5-10). The State additionally argued that information the police received from the parole officer – that the parole officer wanted Mr. Ayala for absconding and intended to issue an agent's warrant – provided sufficient information for the police to make the arrest. (Tr., p.31, L.16 – p.32, L.25.) Finally, the State asserted that the police action was justified as a detention because Mr. Ayala was a flight risk, although the State offered no

⁴ Sergeant Steele testified that the police had no judicial warrant to arrest of Mr. Ayala. (Tr., p.25, Ls.9-13.) The record contains no evidence of any warrant having been issued by the Commission of Pardons and Parole, pursuant to Idaho Code § 20-228, or the pertinent Rules of the Commission of Pardons and Parole, IDAPA 50.01.01.400.02.

evidence or argument to support the full custodial arrest on that ground. (Tr. p.33, Ls.1-4.)

The district court denied the suppression motion. (Tr., p.37, Ls.9-12.) While the court explicitly found that the parole officer had not prepared or issued the agent's warrant until *after* the police had arrested Mr. Ayala, and *after* the drugs had been found (Tr., p.34, Ls.19-23, p.36, Ls.1-4), the court ruled that the arrest was nevertheless lawful, offering three justifications. First, the district court found that the police had probable cause to make the arrest based on their knowledge that Mr. Ayala was wanted by his parole officer for absconding. (Tr., p.35, Ls.15-22.) Second, citing the Court of Appeals' decision in *State v. Armstrong*⁵ as controlling, the district court ruled that the arrest was lawful because the police were acting as agents of the parole officer in carrying out the parole officer's oral request for assistance. (Tr., p.34, L.24 – p.37, L.2.) Third, the district court mentioned that a parolee has less expectation of freedom from law enforcement contact. (Tr., p.36, Ls.6-10.)

Following the denial of his motion to suppress, Mr. Ayala entered a conditional guilty plea to possession of a controlled substance and to possession of drug paraphernalia, reserving his right to appeal the denial of his motion to suppress; the State also dismissed the persistent violator enhancement. (Tr., p.37, L.21 – p.19, L.20, p.46, Ls.1-3.) At sentencing, Mr. Ayala asked the district court to impose a fixed term of six months to a year, and an indeterminate term of not more than two years. (Tr., p.57, Ls.20-24.) The court sentenced him to one year fixed, followed by six years, for a unified sentence of seven years total. (Tr., p.64, Ls.5-7.) Mr. Ayala timely appealed.

⁵ 158 Idaho 364 (Ct. App. 2015).

ISSUES

- I. Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Ayala's motion to suppress?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Ayala's Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

The district court erred when it failed to suppress evidence that was discovered as a result of the police's unlawful⁶ arrest and subsequent search of Mr. Ayala. Mr. Ayala has established that the police arrested him without a warrant, and the State failed in its burden to demonstrate the arrest was lawful under any recognized exception to the warrant requirement. The police had no probable cause to believe Mr. Ayala had committed any crime, and the parole officer failed to deputize the police, as required by statute, to carry out a warrantless arrest on his behalf. Although Mr. Ayala was a parolee at the time, the State offered no evidence that he had waived his constitutional rights or agreed to be subjected to warrantless arrests or searches under the terms and conditions of his parole agreement. On this record, the only limitation of constitutional seizure and search rights to which Mr. Ayala was arguably⁷ subjected as a parolee is the statutory provision, Idaho Code § 20-227(1) authorizing a parole officer (1) to arrest him without a warrant, or else (2) to deputize any other officer with arrest power to do so "by giving such officer a written statement" known as an "agent's warrant." *See* Idaho Code § 20-227(1). The parole officer did not do either one in this case.

⁶ In the district court, Mr. Ayala additionally argued for suppression under the Fourteenth Amendment. (R., p.58.) He does not pursue that argument in this appeal.

⁷ Mr. Ayala did not challenge, in the district court, the constitutionality of the warrantless arrest provision contained in Idaho Code § 20-227(1), and he does not raise the constitutionality of that statute on appeal. Rather, his appellate argument is the same he made in the district court: the statute had no operative effect in this case, because the parole officer neither made the warrantless arrest, nor deputized any other officer to do so.

The State has failed to demonstrate that Mr. Ayala's warrantless arrest fell within any recognized exception to the warrant requirement. Mr. Ayala is entitled to suppression of all evidence resulting from the unlawful arrest, including evidence discovered as a result of the subsequent search incident to that arrest. The district court's denial of his motion to suppress should be reversed.

B. Standard Of Review

The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When this Court reviews an order granting or denying a motion to suppress, it accepts the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. However, this Court freely reviews the trial court's application of constitutional principles in light of those facts. *State v. Eversole*, 160 Idaho 239, 242 (2016).

C. The State Failed To Carry Its Burden Of Establishing The Warrantless Arrest Of Mr. Ayala Was Constitutionally Reasonable, And The Evidence Discovered As The Result Of That Seizure Should Have Been Suppressed

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend IV. The Idaho Constitution also offers protection against unlawful search and seizure. Idaho Const. art. I, § 17; *State v. Green*, 158 Idaho 884 (2015).

Warrantless searches and seizures are presumptively unreasonable under both the federal and Idaho constitutions unless they come within one of the established exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Green*, at 886-87, (citing *California v. Acevedo*, 500 U.S. 565, 580 (1991) and *State v. Henderson*, 114 Idaho 293, 295, 756 P.2d 1057, 1059 (1988)). Once a defendant has established that a warrantless search occurred, the State bears the burden of establishing that a valid exception applies. *State v. Armstrong*, 158 Idaho 364, 370 (Ct. App. 2015).

Evidence obtained in violation of these constitutionally-guaranteed protections is subject to the exclusionary rule, which requires the suppression of both primary evidence obtained as a direct result of an illegal search or seizure, and evidence later discovered and found to be derivative of an illegality, that is, “fruit of the poisonous tree.” *See Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 484–85 (1963); *State v. Guzman*, 122 Idaho 981, 988-98 (1992).

Here, the police discovered evidence during a search incident to the warrantless arrest of Mr. Ayala. As demonstrated below, the warrantless arrest was constitutionally unlawful. The police lacked probable cause to arrest because they had no reason to believe Mr. Ayala was committing any crime; and the State has failed to establish that the arrest fell within any other recognized exception to the warrant requirement. The exclusionary rule should be applied in this case to suppress the evidence obtained as the result of that illegal seizure, and the district court’s failure to do so was error.

The district court offered three possible justifications for the police’s warrantless arrest of Mr. Ayala: (1) that the verbal report of Mr. Ayala as an absconder gave the police probable cause to make the arrest; (2) that the arrest was justified under the Court of Appeals’ decision in *State v. Armstrong*⁸; and (3) that a parolee has less expectation of freedom from law enforcement contact. (Tr., p.34, L.24 – p.37, L.2.) As demonstrated below, these rationales do not apply to justify the arrest as lawful.

1. The District Court Erred When It Concluded The Police Had Probable Cause To Make The Arrest

The district court erred when it concluded that the police had probable cause to arrest Mr. Ayala based on their information regarding his parole status as an “absconder.” (*See*,

⁸ 158 Idaho at 364, 370 (Ct. App. 2015).

Tr., p.35, Ls.15-18.) Under the long-standing probable cause exception to the warrant requirement, “a warrantless arrest by a law officer is reasonable [and lawful] under the Fourth Amendment where there is probable cause to believe that a *criminal offense* has been or is being committed.” *State v. Lee*, 162 Idaho 642, ___, 402 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2017) (quoting *Devenpeck v. Alford*, 543 U.S. 146, 152 (2004)) (brackets original to *Lee* opinion) (emphasis added); *see also Virginia v. Moore*, 553 U.S. 164, 174–78 (2008) (an arrest is “lawful” if “officers have probable cause to believe that a person has committed a crime in their presence”).

Absconding from parole supervision is not a crime or public offense in Idaho. *See* I.C. § 18-109 (defining “crime or public offense” as “an act or omission in violation of a law forbidding or commanding it, and to which is annexed, “upon conviction,” a punishment of death, imprisonment, fine, removal from office, or disqualification to hold and enjoy any office of honor, trust or profit in this State); *see also* Idaho Code § 19-101 (stating, “[n]o person can be punished for a public offense except upon a legal conviction in a court having jurisdiction thereof”); *see also United States v. Sharp*, 143 Idaho 403, 405 (2008) (interpreting the term “conviction”). Thus, even if the information relayed to the police gave them reason to believe Mr. Ayala was violating the conditions of his parole agreement, such information did not provide police with probable cause to believe Mr. Ayala was committing any *crime*. Thus, the information did not provide police probable cause to make an arrest under the federal constitutional standard for a reasonable arrest. *See Greene*, 158 Idaho at 887 (“the federal standard for a reasonable arrest, articulated by the United States Supreme Court a number of times [is] ‘when an officer has probable cause to believe a person committed even a minor crime in his presence, ... [t]he arrest is constitutionally reasonable.’”) (quoting *Virginia v. Moore*, 553 U.S. 164, 171 (2008)). Probable cause to believe that Mr. Ayala was absconding supervision

does not provide the police probable cause to arrest him for a crime, and therefore does not fall within the probable cause exception to the warrant requirement of the federal Fourth Amendment standard. The result is the same under the Idaho Constitution. *See State v. Green*, 158 Idaho 884, 888 (2015) (holding that Idaho Constitution’s “probable cause to arrest” standard authorizes police to make warrantless arrests for a “felony” or “for a public offense committed or attempted in his presence.”)

Because absconding parole supervision is not a crime or public offense in Idaho, the police did not have probable cause under either the state or federal constitutions to make a warrantless arrest based on their belief that Mr. Ayala was violating his parole by absconding. The district court’s contrary conclusion is erroneous.

2. The District Court Erred In Concluding That Police Officers Acted As The Lawful Agents Of The Parole Officer When They Arrested Mr. Ayala; The District Court’s Reliance On *State v. Armstrong* Is Misplaced

The district court also erred in concluding that the police officer’s warrantless arrest of Mr. Ayala was lawful under the Court of Appeals’ decision in *State v. Armstrong*, 158 Idaho 364 (Ct. App. 2015). In *Armstrong*, the parole officer had requested a police officer’s assistance with a warrantless search of a parolee’s vehicle pursuant to the terms of a parole agreement. *Id.* at 370. The parole agreement expressly authorized searches by the parole officer and “any agent of Probation and Parole.” *Id.* The parole officer advised the police officer that the parolee had signed a Fourth Amendment waiver allowing the search, and he requested the police officer’s assistance with the search “pursuant to that waiver.” *Id.* at 370. Under those facts, the Court of Appeals upheld the search as lawful, noting “the parole officer dictated the scope of the search within the parameters of [the parolee’s] Fourth Amendment waiver ...” and that the police

officer had acted as an “agent” of the parole officer, and as expressly authorized by the waiver. *Id.* at 372.

However, *Armstrong* and the cases it cites deal exclusively with warrantless *searches*, not warrantless arrests.⁹ Unlike the situation in *Armstrong*, police officers in Mr. Ayala’s case were asked to assist with a warrantless *arrest* pursuant to a *statute*, not a warrantless search pursuant to a waiver provision in a parole agreement. Idaho parole agreements do not typically require waivers of seizure rights, or require parolees to consent to warrantless arrests. *See*, Rules of the Commission of Pardons and Parole, IDAPA 50.01.01.250. Instead, a parole officer’s warrantless arrest authority is found in statute; specifically, Idaho Code § 20-227(1) provides,

Any parole or probation officer may arrest a parolee or probationer ... without a warrant, or may deputize any other officer with power of arrest to do so, *by giving such officer a written statement* hereafter referred to as an agent’s warrant, setting forth that the parolee or probationer ... in the judgment of said parole or probation officer, violated ... the conditions of his parole or probation

I.C. § 20-227(1).

This statute grants a parole officer the authority to (1) make a warrantless arrest of a parolee, or (2) “deputize” any other “officer with arrest power” to do so “by giving such officer a written statement” known as an agent’s warrant. *Id.* The statute prescribes *who* the parole officer

⁹ *State v. Armstrong*, 158 Idaho 364 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding that police search at request of parole officer was lawful, where police “acted under the direction of the parole officer for the specific, limited purpose of assisting with execution of a search authorized by the terms of [the defendant’s] parole); *State v. Cruz*, 144 Idaho 906, 911 (Ct. App. 2007) (parole conditions that subjected parolee to warrantless, suspicionless searches diminished his privacy expectations); *State v. Peters*, 130 Idaho 960, 963 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding that a parole officer may make a warrantless search, and may enlist the aid of police when conducting that search), *State v. Vega*, 110 Idaho 685, 687 (Ct. App. 1986) (holding police assistance with parole officer’s warrantless search was lawful), *State v. Pison*, 104 Idaho 227, 234 (Ct. App. 1983) (holding that where

can deputize (i.e., any other officer with arrest power), and *how* the parole officer must deputize such officer (i.e., by giving such officer a written statement). *Id.* Here, the parole officer failed to invoke his arrest authority under the statute: he did not make the arrest, and he did not deputize any other officer to do so until after police had taken Mr. Ayala into custody and searched him. Thus, while Mr. Ayala was arguably subjected to the parole officer's arrest authority provided by the statute, that authority was not invoked, since the probation officer neither made the arrest nor deputized any other officer to do so. The district court's conclusion that the parole officer could nevertheless authorize police officers to make a warrantless arrest on his behalf, without complying with the statute's requirement of a written warrant, was error.

3. The State Failed To Show That The Warrantless Arrest By Police Officers Was Justified By Mr. Ayala's Diminished Expectations Of Privacy

The district court also erred to the extent it found the warrantless arrest was justified because Mr. Ayala had diminished expectations of privacy as a parolee.¹⁰ (Tr., p.36, Ls.5-8.) Courts have recognized that parolees and probationers are subjected to terms and conditions of parole that can diminish their reasonable expectations of privacy. *See, e.g., State v. Cruz*, 144 Idaho 906, 911 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Cruz' parole condition significantly diminished his reasonable expectation of privacy *because* it subjected him to searches of person or property, including residence and vehicle, *at any time and place* and did not expressly require reasonable suspicion or reasonable grounds"); *United States v. Knights*, 534 U.S. 112, 119 (2001) (probationer's consent to suspicionless searches by probation officers and law enforcement officers, found in

warrantless search by probation officer is justified, probation officer may enlist the help of police in performing his duty.)

¹⁰ The district court stated, "The defendant is a parolee who has less expectation of freedom from law enforcement contact." (Tr., p.36, Ls.6-8.) The State had argued that Mr. Ayala was on parole "so he doesn't have the fourth amendment rights afforded to every citizen usually." (Tr., p.31, Ls.12-15.)

probation agreement, significantly diminished probationer's reasonable expectation of privacy); *Samson v. California*, 547 U.S. 843, 852 (2006) (California parolee's privacy expectations significantly diminished by state-imposed circumstances "including the plain terms of the parole search condition" subjecting parolees to warrantless arrests and suspicionless searches by both law enforcement and probation officers). Thus, parolees and probationers' privacy interests are diminished *because of* the terms and conditions of their parole or probation.

As noted previously, the State did not introduce the terms or conditions of Mr. Ayala's parole supervision agreement; for that reason, the extent to which Mr. Ayala's privacy expectations may have been diminished by such terms or conditions cannot be evaluated. Although Mr. Ayala's privacy rights may have been limited in accordance with the warrantless arrest authority granted to his parole officer under Idaho Code § 20-227, the police officer's intrusion into his privacy did not conform to that statute.

Thus, the State has failed to carry its burden of showing that the warrantless arrest of Mr. Ayala was lawful. Contrary to the conclusions of the district court, the police lacked probable cause to arrest because they had no reason to believe Mr. Ayala was committing any crime; and the State has failed to establish that the arrest fell within any other recognized exception to the warrant requirement. The exclusionary rule should be applied in this case to suppress the evidence obtained as the result of that illegal seizure, and the district court's denial of the suppression motion should be reversed.

II.

The District Court Abused Its Discretion By Imposing An Excessive Sentence

A. Introduction

The district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence. Mr. Ayala asked the court to impose a fixed term of not more than one year, and he does not challenge that portion of his sentence on appeal. He contends that the indeterminate term of six years is unreasonably harsh given the mitigating circumstances of his case.

B. Standard Of Review

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