#### **Uldaho Law**

### Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-13-2018

## State v. Ayala Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45048

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

## Ayala Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Conclusion That His Arrest Was Constitutional

#### A. Introduction

The district court concluded that the search of Ayala was incident to his constitutionally lawful arrest for violating the terms of his parole. (Tr., p. 34, L. 7 – p. 37, L. 12.) Ayala contends the district court erred, arguing that the constitution does not allow the arrest of parole violators unless there is a new crime; that the officers were not authorized by Idaho law to make arrests for parole violations except upon a written warrant; and that his reduced expectation of privacy did not justify the search. (Appellant's brief, pp. 6-13.) Ayala's arguments fail because the district court correctly found that the search of Ayala was incident to his constitutionally lawful arrest for absconding parole.

#### B. Standard Of Review

The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the appellate court accepts the trial court's findings of fact that are supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to those facts. <u>State v. Diaz</u>, 144 Idaho 300, 302, 160 P.3d 739, 741 (2007).

# C. The District Court Properly Concluded That Ayala's Arrest Was Constitutionally Lawful Because It Was Supported By Probable Cause To Believe He Violated His Parole By Absconding

A search incident to lawful arrest is an exception to the warrant requirement. Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 762-63 (1969). The constitutionality of a search

incident to arrest depends on a lawful arrest. See State v. Calegar, 104 Idaho 526, 529, 661 P.2d 311, 314 (1983); State v. Baxter, 144 Idaho 672, 680, 168 P.3d 1019, 1027 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. McIntee, 124 Idaho 803, 805, 864 P.2d 641, 643 (Ct. App. 1993). Warrantless arrests based on probable cause are lawful under the Fourth Amendment. Virginia v. Moore, 553 U.S. 164, 171 (2008); see also Maryland v. Pringle, 540 U.S. 366, 370 (2003); I.C. § 19-603. Probable cause is "the possession of information that would lead a person of ordinary care and prudence to believe or entertain an honest and strong presumption that such person is guilty." State v. Julian, 129 Idaho 133, 136, 922 P.2d 1059, 1062 (1996) (citation omitted). In determining whether the State has met the standard of probable cause, the Court considers the totality of the circumstances. Pringle, 540 U.S. at 371.

The district court found probable cause for the arrest based on the officer's knowledge that Ayala had absconded his parole. (Tr., p. 35, Ls. 15-22.) This finding is based on substantial evidence. (Tr., p. 15, L. 10 – p. 26, L. 17.) Because the arrest for the parole violation was supported by probable cause, the district court correctly found no constitutional violation in the arrest.

Ayala first argues that the constitution allows arrests for crimes, based on probable cause, but does not allow arrests for probation or parole violations that are not independent crimes. (Appellant's brief, pp. 8-10.) Ayala cites cases holding that an arrest is constitutional if the officer has probable cause to believe a crime has been committed and extrapolates that those cases stand for the proposition that arrests based on probable cause to believe the defendant violated conditions of probation or parole are not constitutionally allowed. (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-10.) Ayala has failed, however, to cite any authority

suggesting, much less holding, that only a crime justifies arrest, and that violators of probation and parole are entitled to remain at large indefinitely. Contrary to Ayala's argument, a parolee may be held on an arrest for a parole violation if "there is probable cause or reasonable ground to believe that the arrested parolee has committed acts that would constitute a violation of parole conditions." Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 485 (1972) (addressing due process requirement of post-arrest determination of probable cause in probation violation proceedings). There is no constitutional requirement that the parole violation for which officers have probable cause be an independent crime before an arrest may be made.

Ayala next argues that because the parole officer's direction to take him into custody was oral, and not written, the arrest was invalid under I.C. § 20-227. (Appellant's brief, pp. 10-12.) He argues that the district court erred by applying <u>State v. Armstrong</u>, 158 Idaho 364, 347 P.3d 1025 (Ct. App. 2015). (Appellant's brief, pp. 10-11.) The state generally agrees that <u>Armstrong</u> is inapplicable, but even so Ayala's argument shows no error because it is not based on the Fourth Amendment.

The issue in <u>Armstrong</u> was whether the search conducted by officers exceeded the scope of Armstrong's probationary consent to searches. <u>Id.</u> at 370-71, 347 P.3d at 1031-32. Specifically, Armstrong contended he had consented only to searches by probation or parole officers, not law enforcement officers, and therefore the search by law enforcement officers exceeded the scope of his consent. <u>Id.</u> at 370, 347 P.3d at 1031. It was clear, therefore, that the Fourth Amendment applied to the question presented. <u>Id.</u> at 370-71, 347 P.3d at 1031-32.

In this case the Fourth Amendment is not implicated by Ayala's claim that officers violated I.C. § 20-227 by arresting him on an oral, instead of written, request. To the contrary, the law is clear that the lawfulness of an arrest (and the search incident thereto) is measured by constitutional standards of probable cause, not upon any state-law restrictions on an officer's authority. Moore, 553 U.S. at 171; State v. Green, 158 Idaho 884, 354 P.3d 446 (2015). Ayala has failed to show that the Fourth Amendment required a particular state actor, such as a probation or parole officer rather than a law enforcement officer, to conduct the arrest, and the law is contrary to any such claim. He has also failed to show that the Fourth Amendment required a written warrant as opposed to conducting a warrantless arrest based on probable cause, and the law is contrary to any such claim. Because, as set forth above, the Fourth Amendment is satisfied by the finding of probable cause, Ayala's argument that law enforcement was not allowed under Idaho law to make a warrantless arrest for the parole violation is constitutionally irrelevant.

Finally, Ayala contends that his reduced expectation of privacy as a parolee did not justify his arrest. (Appellant's brief, pp. 12-13.) The state agrees.<sup>1</sup> As set forth above, the Fourth Amendment requirement for a valid arrest on a parole violation is the same as for a valid arrest on a crime: the existence of probable cause. Because the district court correctly

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ayala apparently does not contest the district court's conclusion that the *search* of his person could be justified by his reduced expectation of privacy. Rather, Ayala merely argues that absent proof of the terms of his parole the state failed to show he had a reduced expectation of privacy justifying his *arrest*. (Appellant's brief, pp. 12-13.) However, a warrantless *search* of a parolee is justified upon suspicion he has violated the terms of his parole. Samson v. California, 547 U.S. 843 (2006). Here the district court properly concluded officers had probable cause to believe Ayala had violated the terms of his parole by absconding, and therefore the *search* of his person complied with constitutional requirements even if the *arrest* did not fully comply with I.C. § 20-227. This is an unchallenged alternate ground for affirming the district court.

found that officers had probable cause to believe that Ayala had violated his parole by absconding, however, Ayala has shown no error in the district court's denial of his suppression motion.

A constitutionally valid search incident to arrest requires a constitutionally valid arrest. An arrest is constitutionally valid if based on probable cause. The district court correctly found that officers had probable cause to believe Ayala had violated his parole by absconding. Therefore the arrest of Ayala was constitutionally valid, and the search incident thereto was also constitutionally valid.

II.

Ayala Has Failed To Show The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed A

Sentence Of Seven Years With One Year Determinate Upon His Conviction For

Possession Of Methamphetamine

#### A. Introduction

The district court imposed a sentence of seven years with one year determinate upon Ayala's conviction for possession of methamphetamine. (R., pp. 109-11.) Ayala does not challenge the one-year determinate portion of his sentence (because he requested it below), but asserts that the six-year indeterminate portion of his sentence is excessive. Application of the relevant legal standards to the record shows that the district court did not abuse its discretion.

#### B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

The length of a sentence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard considering the defendant's entire sentence. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007) (citing State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002); State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 159 P.3d 838 (2007)). It is presumed that the fixed portion of

the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v. Trevino</u>, 132 Idaho 888, 980 P.2d 552 (1999)). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Baker</u>, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing <u>State v. Lundquist</u>, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)).

When considering whether the sentence was an abuse of discretion, "this Court considers: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with the legal standards applicable; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason."

<u>State v. Fisher</u>, 162 Idaho 465, 398 P.3d 839, 842 (2017) (quoting <u>State v. Miller</u>, 151 Idaho 828, 834, 264 P.3d 935, 941 (2011)).

#### C. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion

To bear the burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion, the appellant must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence was excessive. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007). In determining whether the appellant met his burden, the court considers the entire sentence but, because the decision to release him on parole is exclusively the province of the executive branch, presumes that the determinate portion will be the period of actual incarceration. Oliver, 144 Idaho at 726, 170 P.3d at 391. To establish that the sentence was excessive, he must demonstrate that reasonable minds could not conclude the sentence was appropriate to accomplish the sentencing goals of protecting society, deterrence, rehabilitation, and retribution. Farwell, 144 Idaho at 736, 170 P.3d at 401. The "primary objective" of sentencing is "the protection of society." State v. Jimenez, 160 Idaho 540, 544, 376 P.3d 744, 748 (2016).

The district court concluded that the primary issue in sentencing Ayala was his "severe" addiction. (Tr., p. 60, L. 21 – p. 61, L. 3; p. 62, Ls. 5-7.) Given his history of drug use, genuine change by Ayala was "hard at this point to see." (Tr., p. 61, Ls. 4-17.) The district court concluded that Ayala's addiction had "not been successfully managed in the community" and that he had the best chance of rehabilitation "in a structured setting first." (Tr., p. 62, L. 5 – p. 63, L. 19.) The court concluded, however, that Ayala should qualify "sooner rather than later for another parole." (Tr., p. 63, Ls. 19-22.) This would give Ayala the opportunity to "earn[ his] way out after getting structured treatment." (Tr., p. 64, Ls. 5-13.) The district court's findings and analysis are supported by the record. (See, e.g., PSI, pp. 3, 5-8, 11-14, 19, 29.)

Even though the sentence imposed by the district court was entirely based upon rehabilitation, Ayala asserts that the six-year indeterminate portion of the sentence was an abuse of discretion "given the mitigating circumstances of his case." (Appellant's brief, p. 14.) The mitigating circumstances are his "drug addiction and his strong potential for overcoming that addiction given his youth [and] strong family support." (Appellant's brief, p. 15.) Ayala's confidence that he will achieve complete rehabilitation in less than seven years does not show the district court erred by being slightly less confident. Giving him the chance to get parole after one year, and six years thereafter to monitor his recovery if structured treatment is successful (or a longer time to treat him in a structured environment if it is less successful) was reasonable. Ayala has failed to show an abuse of discretion.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of conviction.